UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 96-10255

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS

M CHAEL A. CGROSSMAN,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Northern District of Texas

July 8, 1997

Before DAVIS, STEWART and PARKER, Circuit Judges.
ROBERT M PARKER, Circuit Judge:

Appel  ant M chael A Grossman was convicted after ajury trial
of one count of conspiracy to commt wire fraud and to nake fal se
entries into the records of a savings and loan in violation of 18
US. C 8§ 371 and el even counts of wire fraud in violation of 18
US C 8§ 1343. Appellant was sentenced to three years in prison,
to be followed by five years of probation, and ordered to pay

restitution of $5 mllion. He appeals.



| . FACTS

M chael G ossnman was a Dal |l as, Texas real estate attorney and
investor who, in partnership with his father Mrtin G ossnman,
purchased distressed properties, turned them around and sold or
managed themat a profit. They had extensive real estate hol di ngs
and one of their conpanies, MG Managenent Co., Inc. (“MG)
managed approximately twelve hotels in Texas, Louisiana and
Ckl ahoma. I n January 1987, M chael Grossman’s net worth, according
to one estimate, was over $49 mllion.

Heri tage Savi ngs and Loan Association (“Heritage”) was a state
chartered savings and |oan association located in Elk Cty,
Okl ahoma, the deposits of which were i nsured by the Federal Savi ngs
and Loan Insurance Corporation (“FSLIC'). R chard Arnstrong was
t he president of Heritage and owned approximately 11 percent of its
stock. Initially, nost of Heritage's |oans were on single-famly
resi dences. When the oil and gas market declined in western
Ckl ahoma, many of these hone | oans went into default and Heritage
began experiencing net worth probl ens.

In March 1984, Heritage made a $10 million | oan on a project
i n Ednond, Okl ahoma known as “the QGaks.” The plan was to devel op
and construct 92 |uxury condom nium town honmes around a golf
course, clubhouse, swinm ng pool and tennis court. The |oan went
into default after fourteen units were built and Heritage accepted
a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure in settlenment of the borrower’s debt.
The Oaks, the l|argest piece of real estate owned (“REC) by
Heritage, |ost $569,000 in 1984 and over $8 nmillion in 1985, and



was a significant drain on the institution.

On Decenber 31, 1985, H George Schul er purchased all of the

out standi ng stock of Heritage for $3.4 million. Schul er deposited
about $1.7 mllion into Heritage as a capital contribution and
another $1.7 mllion into an indemification account for the

benefit of the selling sharehol ders. That account was pledged to
Heritage as a guaranty agai nst certain carrying costs and specified
| osses, including those associated with the Oaks project. Upon the
sale of the Qaks, any funds remaining in the account would be
distributed to the former sharehol ders.

The accounting for the sale of Heritage to Schuler utilized a
met hod called “push down accounting.” Ordinarily, when a bank
forecl oses on property, it is put on the books at the | ower of the
original loan balance or the appraised value at the tine of
forecl osure. “Push down” accounting, however, enabled Heritage to
obtain a new apprai sal on the Oaks for $5.7 mllion as of Schuler’s
acquisition date and adjust the value on the institution’s books
downward to reflect this value. As aresult, if the OGaks sold for
nore than $5.7 million, Heritage would be able to recogni ze a gain
on the sale and inprove its capital position.

Heritage's initial efforts to sell the Gaks were unsuccessf ul
and its financial condition continued to deteriorate through the
first five nonths of 1987. The Federal Honme Loan Bank Board
(“FHLBB") was closely nonitoring the situation at the institution
and was considering inposing a supervisory agreenent that would

restrict lending operations if the deficiency was not corrected.



In March 1987, M chael Gossman was approached by Craig
d endenni ng, who was associated with a real estate conpany called
Craig Properties. At that tine, Mchael G ossman believed the real
estate market had bottoned out and wanted to buy sone properties
while the prices were |ow d endenning introduced M chael and
Martin Grossman to Arnstrong and Schuler. At the initial neeting,
one of Craig Properties’ principals proposed that Heritage sell the
Caks to the Grossmans and afterwards provide a $15 mllion basket
of loans to them M chael G ossman nade four trips to the site,
and determ ned that he could be successful with it. He was told
that Heritage had $10 million in the property and had an apprai sal
at $8.5 mllion. After a series of negotiations, the G ossmans
agreed to make a $1.5 mllion down paynment and purchase the Qaks
for about $8 million. In exchange, Heritage conmitted to fund a
$15 million basket of loans to the G ossmans and their related
entities, subject to normal underwiting requirenents. M chae
Grossman told G endenning that he wanted to borrow the funds for
the down paynent, so d endenning introduced himto Addi son Terry,
a | oan broker from Houston, Texas.

Terry arranged for the G ossnans to borrow the down paynent
from Loui siana National Life Insurance Conpany. The G ossnans
personal | y guarant eed repaynent within 60 days and agreed t hat when
Heri tage funded additional refinancing |l oans for their properties,
a portion of the proceeds woul d be disbursed by the title conpany
to the Addison Terry Conpany and applied to the repaynent of the

$1.5 million loan. Heritage' s records clearly revealed that the



Grossmans were borrowi ng the noney for the down paynent fromTerry
and that nonies from the basket of |oans would be used to repay
him There was testinony that Heritage s board and the FHLBB were
not “informed” that the down paynent was borrowed, but M chael
Grossman had no contact with either the board or the regul ators.
In addition to borrowing the $8.2 mllion to purchase the
Caks, the Gossmans eventually nmade four other loans from
Heritage's “basket of |oans,” one before the OGaks closing, and

three after:

Val | ey Towers $850, 000 on 6/ 26/ 87
The Oaks $8.2 mllion on 7/02/87
Ol ahoma City $1.85 mllion on 7/27/87
MBG $1.35 mllion on 7/30/87
Dur o $2.7 mllion on 9/04/87

Heritage al so funded | oans to two individuals, B. J. Hayes and
Jay Saldi, at the end of July 1987 to enable themto purchase town
homes in the Gaks. d endenning provided the noney for their down
payments and paid each one $5000 for participating in the
transactions. Neither Hayes or Sal di ever lived in the town hones.
M chael Grossman agreed to | ease their town honmes for use as nodel
homes and to provide full paynent of their nortgages. Hays
defaulted on his |l oan in January 1988 when M chael G ossnman st opped
maki ng | ease paynents to him Saldi also defaulted on his |oan.

Finally, Martin Grossman purchased two town hones at the oaks
and received a loan in the amount of $524,500 from Heritage. His
down payment was funded with $59,000 from the proceeds of the
Ckl ahoma City loan. There were no other units sold at the QGaks.

By the fall of 1987, there were di sputes between the G ossnmans



and Heritage concerning continued funding of the basket of | oans.
In late Cctober, G ossman’s | oans becane delinquent and Heritage
refused to fund any nore | oans. The parties discussed rescinding
t he transacti ons but never received the requisite approval fromthe
FHLBB. None of the |loans -- the Gaks, the basket of |oans or the
t ownhouse | oans -- were repaid.

I n January 1995, bankers Schul er and Arnstrong, real estate
agent d endenning and purchasers M chael and Martin G ossman were

indicted on twelve counts of <conspiracy and wre fraud in

connection with these transactions. Schul er and d endenni ng
pl eaded guilty and received probation. Arnmstrong and M chael
Grossman were convicted on all counts. Martin G ossman was

acquitted on all counts. M chael G ossnman and Arnstrong appeal ed,
but Arnmstrong, after pleading guilty in an unrel ated case, w thdrew
hi s appeal .
1. SUFFI Cl ENCY OF THE EVI DENCE

M chael G ossman contends that the evidence at trial was
insufficient to sustain his convictions on any count. He tinely
filed a notion for judgnent of acquittal at both the close of the
governnent’s case and at the conclusion of all of the evidence.
The standard of review, therefore, requires this court to viewthe
evidence in the light nost favorable to the jury verdict and affirm
if arational trier of fact could find that the governnment proved
all essential el enents beyond a reasonabl e doubt. United States v.
MacKay, 33 F.3d 489 (5th Cr. 1994). |If “the evidence viewed in

the light nost favorable to the prosecution gives equal or near



equal circunstantial support to a theory of guilt and a theory of
i nnocence, the conviction should be reversed.” Id., 33 F.3d at
493. This court has recognized the high degree of deference
accorded the jury verdict inacrimnal case, termng this standard
of review “inposing.” United States v. Parekh, 926 F.2d 402, 405
(5th Gr. 1991). There are few disputes about the events that
serve as the basis of Mchael G ossnman’s convictions. Rather, the
governnent and appellant differ concerning what conclusions can
rationally be drawn from those facts concerning the parties’
know edge and i ntentions.

Count 1 of the indictnent charged the offense of conspiracy
under 18 U.S.C. 8 371. To establish a conspiracy under 8 371 the
governnment nust prove (1) there was an agreenent between two or
nmore persons to pursue an unlawful objective; (2) the defendant
voluntarily agreed to join the conspiracy; and (3) that one of the
persons commtted an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
United States v. Pettigrew, 77 F.3d 1500, 1519 (5th G r. 1996).
The objects of the conspiracy set out in the indictnent were to
commt the offenses of wire fraud under 18 U S.C. § 1343, aiding
and abetting that offense under 18 U S.C. 8 2 and neking false
entries into the books and record of the savings institution in
violation of 18 U S C § 1006. Counts 2 through 12 of the
i ndi ctment charged separate of fenses of wire fraud. Specifically,
they charged that the five codefendants devised a schene and
artifice to defraud and to obtain noney and property fromHeritage

by neans of false and fraudul ent pretenses, representations and



prom ses by maki ng el even wire transfers fromJune 26, 1987 t hrough
Septenber 11, 1987 from Heritage to fund the Oaks |oan and the
acconpanyi ng basket of |oans to the G ossnans.

The conspiracy and wire fraud are based on the sane all eged
conduct. As set out in the indictnent, that conduct consisted of:

[] defendants H George Schuler and Richard F.
Arnmstrong agreed to sell the OGaks to M chael A G ossman
and Martin B. Grossman for $8,462,172 with a cash down
payment of $1,500,000 and to provide additional |oans
[of] $15,000,000 from which the $1,500,000 would be
repai d.

[] defendants H George Schuler and Richard F.
Armstrong would artificially enhance the financial
appearance of Heritage by funding the Oaks l|oan to
def endant M chael A G ossnan.

[] defendants Mchael A Gossnman and Martin B.
G ossman woul d submt fal se and fraudul ent docunents to
defendants H CGeorge Schuler, Richard F. Arnmstrong and
Heritage in connection with the loans to Valley Towers,
Ckl ahoma City Hotel Joint Venture, M& G Managenent, and
Duro Resources, |Inc.

[] defendants H George Schuler and Richard F.
Armstrong would cause Heritage to fund the loans to
defendants M chael A Grossman and Martin B. G ossman
wth portions of the loan proceeds applied to the
borrowed down paynent and ot her portions of the proceeds
diverted to the personal use of defendants M chael A
G ossnman, Martin B. G ossman and Thomas Craig
d endenni ng.

[] def endant Thomas Crai g G endenning [] solicit]ed]

two nom nees to purchase two townhouses |ocated in the

Caks devel opnent from Heritage, for which he would

provi de the down paynent.

The only conduct alleged against Mchael Gossnan that is
inherently illegal i1s the submssion of false or fraudul ent
docunents to Schuler, Arnstrong and Heritage. M chael G ossman’s
other alleged activities, while legal, were crimnal to the extent
that he fraudulently concealed them from Heritage.
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The district court’s charge correctly advised the jury that
the offenses nust have been conmtted knowingly and with the
specific intent to defraud. The charge stated that, to “establish
specific intent, the governnent nust prove that [ M chael G ossnan]
knowi ngly did an act which the |aw forbids or knowngly failed to
do an act which the |aw requires, purposely intending to violate
the law.” M chael G ossman contends that there was insufficient
evidence of the required nental elenents of the crinmes alleged to
sustain his convictions.

We nust then exam ne the acts that the governnent relied on to
establish Mchael Gossman’'s quilt. First, the governnent
contended that M chael G ossman falsely represented to Heritage
that the loans would be used by the naned borrowers for their
busi ness and commercial purposes, then applied the funds to
personal use. Each of the | oans contained the foll ow ng | anguage:

Borrower represents and warrants |ender that the

loan will be used by borrower for its business and

comercial purposes and not for personal, famly,

househol d or agricul tural use.

This clause is the focus of the “false and fraudul ent
docunents” allegation in the indictnent. The governnent contended
at trial that Mchael G ossman violated this clause by (1) nmaking
a $20, 000 paynment for his children’s tuition out of a bank account
where a portion of the |oan proceeds had been deposited and (2)
using the | oan proceeds for business purposes unrelated to the
busi ness purposes of the specific entity who is named as the
borrower on the particular |oan in question.

As to the tuition paynent, the evidence showed an account

9



bal ance of $9,308 in non-Heritage funds on June 30, 1987 when
M chael Grossman wote the $20,000 check to his househol d account
for the tuition. A $89, 040 deposit of Heritage funds was nmade on
June 30 and posted to the account on July 1, 1987. On July 2,
1987, anot her deposit of $17,175 in non-Heritage funds was nmade to
the sane account. This evidence in not sufficient to sustain a
convi ction based on Mchael G ossman’s use of Heritage | oan funds
for personal expenses.

The second al l egation requires us to determne if the evidence
supports the conclusion that the G ossmans fraudul ently used | oan
proceeds for business expenses related to projects other than the
busi ness entity naned on the | oan. On each of the loans in
question, the borrowers were entities primarily owned and
controlled by Martin and M chael G ossnan. Testinony from both
governnent and defense wtnesses confirm that the parties’
under st andi ng was that the purpose of the |oans was to refinance
existing debt and to pull equity out of certain properties that
coul d then be used to acquire additional properties, especially the
Caks. The Grossman’s reading of the clause -- that it allowed use
of the | oan proceeds for business purposes related to any of their
holdings -- while not the only possible interpretation of the
| anguage, was reasonabl e. Because everyone involved accepted this
interpretation and openly acted 1in accordance wth this
under st andi ng the all eged breach of this clause does not support a
finding of fraudulent intent on the part of Mchael G ossnman.

Next, the governnent took the position that the borrowed down

10



paynment is proof of fraudulent intent. It is clear that borrow ng
t he down paynment was not precluded by | aw nor by the agreenent of
the parties and that M chael G ossman fully disclosed his plan to
borrow the down paynent and to repay that |oan with proceeds of
various basket-loans that withdrew equity invested in other rea
estate projects. The borrowed down paynent does not support the
conclusion that Mchael Gossman had the intent to defraud
Heri t age.

Next, the governnent alleges fraud based on | anguage in the
| oan papers that provides that the loans are “separate and
i ndependent fromany ot her transacti on bet ween Lender and Borrower.

[njeither the Commtnment to nake the Loan nor the closing of
the Loan is conditioned in any respect upon Borrower purchasing
property or obtaining other credit or services fromLender. ”
The governnment contends that these statenents were false and
fraudul ent because each of the |oans was conditioned upon the
Grossmans’ purchase of the OGaks from Heritage, and proceeds from
the | oans were used to repay the borrowed down paynent on t he QGaks.

The evidence showed that the “separate and independent”
| anguage is standard or “boil erplate” |anguage in |oan docunents.
M chael G ossnan testified that he understood the | anguage to nean

that the | oans were not cross-collateralized and not in violation

of the Tying Act.!? In fact, he changed the “separate and

The Bank Tying Act is a federal statute that permts bank
custoners to seek civil damages when one transaction is conditioned

on the custoner’s willingness to conplete a second transaction with
the sane institution. United States v. Beuttennuller, 29 F.3d 973,
977 n.8 (5th Cr. 1994). “Separate and independent” |anguage is

11



i ndependent” | anguage in the Oaks | oan, because he understood t hat
hi s purchase of the OGaks was based on Heritage' s commtnent to | oan
him the additional funds. Further, the |oan papers, signed by
M chael Gossman, filed wth Heritage and available to the
regul ators nmake the rel ationship between the various transactions
very clear. The evidence does not support the concl usion that
M chael Grossman harbored intent to defraud or in any way m sl ead
t he bank or the regul ators concerning the rel ationshi p between the
| oans.

Next, we nust examne the allegation that M chael G ossman
participated wth Schuler and Arnstrong in a schene to artificially
enhance the financial appearance of Heritage, by agreeing to a
purchase price above the apprai sed value and by dating the closing
docunents on June 30 when the |oan was not funded until two days
| ater. The evidence wuniformy portrayed the pre-purchase
negoti ations as to purchase price of the OCaks as legitinmate, arns-
| ength and hard fought. There is no evidence that M chael G ossnman
had any i nformati on that woul d i ndi cate that the purchase price was
fraudulently or artificially high. He testified that he believed
t hat t he Oaks, by thensel ves, may have had | ess than $10 mllion in
val ue. However, he concluded that the commtnent by Heritage to
fund nortgage loans for QOaks town honme purchasers in a tight
mar ket, the inclusion of marketing funds, as well as the advant ages

afforded the G ossmans by the basket of |oans made the total

i ncluded in | oan docunentation to protect the bank from potenti al
civil liability.
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negotiated price a fair one.

There are two governnent theories as to why the jury could
conclude that false entries were nmade on Heritage's records.
First, Heritage initially booked a profit on the Gaks | oan that the
regulators later determ ned was inappropriate because the down
paynment had been borrowed. The evi dence does not showthat M chael
Grossman had either know edge about or authority to influence
Heritage’'s decision to book a profit. Second, the closing papers
were dated on June 30, 1987 and the governnent contends that the
deal did not “really” close until two days later. The fact that
the parties chose to close on June 30 in order to show the
transaction on the books during the second quarter of 1987 is not
evidence of illegality or fraud. Also, Mchael G ossnman signed the
cl osi ng papers on June 30, they were dated June 30, and he left a
check for $300,000 as a partial paynent on that day. The evidence
is not sufficient for a rational juror to conclude that M chael
Grossman’ s actions concerning the closing date anounted to fraud.

Finally, there was evidence that Sal di and Hays were nom nee
borrowers and that M chael G ossnman knew of and participated in the
structuring of the nom nee | oans. Such loan structure is not
illegal. Again, because there is no evidence that M chael G ossman
conceal ed the transactions or defrauded Heritage wwth regard to the
Sal di and Hays transactions, the fact that nom nees were used does
not support his convictions.

M chael G ossman enphasizes that the regulators, |awers,

account ants and bank enpl oyees “knew exact|y what was goi ng on” and
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that he dealt honestly and openly wth all of these individuals
t hroughout the entire process. The governnent responds that the
victim of bank fraud is the financial institution, not its
officers, citing United States v. Aubin, 87 F.3d 141, 146 (5th Cr

1996), cert. denied, 117 S.C. 965 (1997). Thus, even if there was
full disclosure to Heritage personnel, the savings and | oan was
neverthel ess defrauded and M chael G ossnman may be crimnally
I'iable. | d. In fact, Aubin is not only distinguishable, but
hi ghli ghts the i nadequacies of the evidence in this case. Unlike
the evidence adduced in Gossman’s trial, Aubin “deliberately
structured the transaction so that the |oan docunents woul d not
reveal that [the purchasers] were involved in the deal.” 1d. 87
F.3d at 146. Further Aubin’s co-defendant/bank of ficer “knew that
he could not tell the nmenbers of the | oan commttee the truth about
the transaction because they would not want to do anything that
m ght incur regulatory scrutiny.” Id. In contrast, the Oaks,
already subject to intense regqulatory scrutiny, was faced wth
certain closing unless it sold the QOGaks very quickly. The
officers, in an effort to save the institution, negotiated what
everyone anticipated was a nutually beneficial deal, wth
acknow edged risks. Unfortunately, both Heritage and t he Grossnans
sustained catastrophic | osses. M chael G ossman, whom the
governnent repeatedly characterized to the jury as having nore
nmoney than Heritage, risked and lost his entire fortune. But the
governnent did not offer sufficient evidence of fraud or conspiracy

by M chael G ossman agai nst Heritage to sustain the convictions.
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As this court has held, “[t]here is nothing unusual about people,
who can economically benefit each other, getting together and
constructing a nutually beneficial bargain.” United States .
Beuttenmul ler, 29 F.3d 973, 983 (5th Cr. 1994). Mor eover, “no
crimnality can be attached to [real estate purchasers or |ending
institutions] because the bottom dropped out of the real estate
mar kets. The decline of any market is part and parcel of the risks
of investing.” Id.

In sum the governnent contended that M chael G ossnman either
commtted an inherently illegal act, or |lied and deceived Heritage
about sone otherw se | egal behavior, thereby inducing Heritage to
assune a risk it could have otherw se avoi ded. The governnent did
not prove that M chael G ossman submtted false and fraudul ent
docunents to Schul er, Arnstrong and Heritage in connection with the
subj ect | oans. Further, given Mchael Gossman’s |ack of
conceal nent, the evidence in insufficient to support the nens rea
el ement of conspiracy or wire fraud. See United States v. Pipkin,
1997 W 291685 (5th Cr. 1997). We therefore reverse M chael
Grossman’ s convi ctions.

REVERSED.
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